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Frankfort, Ind.; and the Clover Leaf be-
tween Frankfort and East St. Louis. Nos. 
9 and 10 were the last scheduled passen-
ger trains to run on either the LE&W or 
the Clover Leaf. Few non-employee rail 
enthusiasts, unless they rode, ever saw 
them, as they ran overnight.

Ever frugal, NKP maximized the lit-
tle trains’ non-revenue cars. In their ear-
ly years, No. 9 dropped a parlor-café af-
ter dinner at Lima, Ohio, to be picked up 
by No. 10 for breakfast. In the morning, 
No. 9 picked up a diner at Charleston, 

Ill., which No. 10 had dropped off the 
evening before. Initially they carried a 
12-section/1-drawing-room Pullman 
sleeper, but soon that changed to a 
10-section/lounge-observation car. In 
1939, the trains were assigned buffet-
lounge-observation sleepers; these lasted 
a decade, replaced in 1949 by Pullman 
10-section/1-compartment/1-drawing-
room heavyweight sleepers and modern-
ized diner-lounges.

But why “Blue”? Well, NKP’s Alco PA 
diesels were blue-and-silver (railroaders 

called them “Bluebirds”), and its 1950s 
lightweight passenger cars had blue let-
terboards. On March 21, 1948, the grace-
ful Alco cab units replaced the Pacifics 
that had been on the St. Louis trains 
since 1930. Then in the early ’50s, one of 
NKP’s new 10-roomette/6-double-bed-
room Pullmans was also assigned. A 
typical train consist was—as pictured on 
the previous page—one each PA, RPO-
baggage-express, coach, diner-lounge, 
and sleeper. Nos. 9 and 10 were never 
heavily patronized, surviving as so many 
trains did by hauling the U.S. Mail (the 
RPO was a Frankfort–St. Louis route). 
Their path was considerably north of the 
only true rail competition, New York 
Central’s Big Four, but the latter served 
Indianapolis, whereas the largest city on 
NKP’s St. Louis line was Muncie, Ind., 
population in the ’50s about 68,000.

The west end lost its food service in 
June 1957, when the diner-lounge was 
cut back to Cleveland–Lima, only to be 
taken off altogether on April 27, 1958. 

Nickel Plate’s four parts
By 1969, the Nickel Plate Road had been part of the Norfolk & Western for five years, 
but from 1923 to 1964, the former “Clover Leaf” was one of three (later four) principal com-
ponents of NKP, formally the New York, Chicago & St. Louis. The NYC&StL was conceived 
in 1881 as a Buffalo–Chicago project to compete with the parallel Lake Shore & Michigan 
Southern (later New York Central) of William H. Vanderbilt. To thwart rival Jay Gould, Vander-
bilt bought the road, which had gained the nickname “Nickel Plate,” the origin of which is 
imprecise, either from an Ohio newspaper reference or pronunciation of its initials, maybe 
both. Cleveland’s Van Sweringen brothers [Spring 2005 Classic Trains] bought out New York 
Central’s interest in 1916.

A second NKP component, the Lake Erie & Western, dated from 1879. It linked Fremont, 
Ohio (later Sandusky, on Lake Erie), with Bloomington, Ill. (later extended to Peoria). LE&W 
would add north-south lines linking Michigan City, Ind., with Indianapolis, and Fort Wayne with 
Connersville and Rushville, Ind. 

The so-called Clover Leaf opened as a 3-foot-gauge line in western Ohio that was caught 
up in the narrow-gauge frenzy of the 1870s, ultimately with a proposal for a Toledo–Mexico 
City line. It got as far west as East St. Louis in 1883, but the company soon collapsed. Discov-
ery of on-line gas and oil resuscitated it, and the railroad was standard-gauged during 1887–
89, east of Frankfort, Ind., and then west of there. In 1900 it was reorganized as the Toledo, 
St. Louis & Western and adopted a three-leaf clover as its emblem, hence the nickname.

The Nickel Plate (NYC&StL Railway), Lake Erie & Western, and Clover Leaf were consolidat-
ed in 1923 as the New York, Chicago & St. Louis Railroad, still popularly the Nickel Plate, and 
that entity lasted 41 years. In 1949 the fourth principal NKP component was added with its 
acquisition of the Wheeling & Lake Erie, which dated from 1871 and linked Wheeling, W.Va., 
with Toledo and also had branches to Ohio coal-mining areas and Lake Erie ports.

Today, the original Buffalo–Chicago NKP is still important to Norfolk Southern, as is much 
of the old LE&W. The Clover Leaf is mostly either gone or short-lined, while the W&LE became 
a successful new regional of the same name after 1989, when NS spun it off along with lines 
of two other former small Class 1’s, the Akron, Canton & Youngstown [Spring 2013 Classic 
Trains] and the Pittsburgh & West Virginia [Summer 2011 CT].—J.D.I.

Out of Union Station at 8 a.m., we pass Gratiot 
Tower as two red EMD’s off TRRA’s riverfront 
“high line” wait for us to clear. We’re bound 
for the city-owned MacArthur bridge (visible 
above the switchers) over the Mississippi. 
Beyond Bridge Junction in East St. Louis, 
where we gained N&W’s former NKP, we are 
about to pass TRRA’s Brooklyln shop (right).
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